Tetrahedron Letters 55 (2014) 2763-2772

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

**Tetrahedron** Letters

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tetlet

# 1,3-Diyne chemistry: synthesis and derivations

Wei Shi<sup>a,\*</sup>, Aiwen Lei<sup>b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> College of Science, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan 430070, China <sup>b</sup> College of Chemistry and Molecular Sciences, Wuhan University, Wuhan 430072, China

### ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 4 January 2014 Revised 22 February 2014 Accepted 5 March 2014 Available online 14 March 2014

Keyword: Diyne chemistry Glaser-Eglinton-Hay coupling FBW rearrangement Cadiot-Chodkiewicz coupling

and wide existence in nature product, but also the abundant properties and derivations of them. Although oxidative dimerization of alkynes or Cadiot-Chodkiewicz reactions were the main pathway and have achieved great success in the synthesis of diynes, oxidative cross coupling, FBW rearrangement as well as divne metathesis emerged rapidly recently. Moreover, divnes could be precursors of basic heterocycles, which represented an emerging research area. This Letter will cover the recent progresses in the synthesis and further derivations of divnes. © 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND

Conjugated diynes have attracted more and more attention not only for their unique rod like structures

license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

### Contents

Introduction
Synthesis of diynes
Synthesis of symmetrical diynes
The oxidative Glaser-Eglinton-Hay coupling       2764
Modifications of Glaser–Eglinton–Hay coupling reactions
Oxidative coupling from alkyne derivatives
Reductive coupling to form symmetric diynes
Synthesis of unsymmetric diynes
Cadiot–Chodkiewicz coupling and modifications
Fritsch-Buttenberg-Wiechell (FBW) rearrangement.       2768
Unsymmetric diynes directly from two different terminal alkynes
Other methods to unsymmetric diynes
Heterocycles from diynes   2769
Thiophenes and furans from diynes
Pyrroles from diynes
Other heterocycles from diynes
Conclusion
Acknowledgements
References and notes

### Introduction

1,3-Diynes (referred to as diynes hereinafter) are a kind of conjugated diynes with unique structures (Scheme 1). They have a rod-like molecular shape with high rigidness. Chauvin and Lepetit have a detailed review on the theoretical studies on acetylenic scaffolds.<sup>1</sup> Tykwinski et al. have prepared a series of 1,3-diynes and derivated polyynes (also known as carbyne) and characterized their structures using the methods including Raman, IR, XRD, etc.<sup>2</sup> In most cases, the four carbon atoms in divnes are arranged linearly, although longer chains containing 8 or more linked sp hybridized carbon atoms may be slightly bent.<sup>3</sup> The reported longest carbyne is also shown in Scheme 1.



**Digest Paper** 







<sup>\*</sup> Tel./fax: +86 27 87284018 (W.S.); tel./fax: +86 27 68754672 (A.L.).

E-mail addresses: shiwei@mail.hzau.edu.cn (W. Shi), aiwenlei@whu.edu.cn (A. Lei).



Scheme 1. Rigid structure of 1,3-diyne.

# Because of the rigid structure, diynes are easy to stack in crystal cells and form a needle-like crystalline solid. This instinct characterization means diynes could be easily recrystallized and purified from other byproducts. More importantly, diynes are thermally and moisture stable. Although highly unsaturated, the conjugation of the carbon atoms provided extra stability. According to the authors' experience, pure diynes could be prepared and stored under normal conditions, and remain the same for years. This advantage has made the diynes as one of the most easily handled organic architectures.

On the other side, the highly unsaturated carbon chains could also exhibit fascinating reaction properties under special conditions. It is known that 1,3-diynes could undergo polymerization upon the irradiation of UV light. This reaction could lead to the cross-linking between different carbon chains and has been widely used in material field.<sup>4</sup>

Moreover, diynes could be attacked by nucleophiles such as amines, alcohols, and sulfides. For example, diynes could react with water, primary amines, hydroxylamines, or hydrogen sulfide to form 5-membered heterocycles like furans,<sup>5</sup> pyrazoles,<sup>6</sup> pyrroles,<sup>5b,7</sup> isoxazoles,<sup>8</sup> and thiophenes.<sup>5a,9</sup> Diynes could be also oxidized to form complex structures, which were used as the precursor of some organic dyes like indigo.<sup>10</sup>

The unusual structure, relative stability, and abundant potential reactivity have together made the diynes as important building blocks in organic synthesis and material science. More and more reports have emerged to discuss the synthesis and application of diynes recently. There have also been a few reviews on the nature of occurrence of diynes, synthesis of acetylenic scaffolds, and reactivity of alkynes. However, few reviews concerning the synthetic pathways as well as the applications of this magic structure were published. As a witness of the rapid development of diyne chemistry in the recent decades, this review would summarize the synthetic pathways of diynes, as well as their further derivations.

### Synthesis of diynes

Diynes could be divided into two kinds: symmetrical or unsymmetrical, according to the substituent groups linked to both sides of the buta-1,3-diyne structure. While earlier reports focused on the synthesis of symmetrical diynes, the unsymmetrical diynes were much more common in nature and have attracted more and more attention in the recent years.

### Synthesis of symmetrical diynes

Symmetric diynes could be generated simply from the oxidative coupling of the corresponding terminal alkynes (or their derivations such as alkynyl metallic reagents or 1-halo-alkynes), as shown in Scheme 2. Theoretically, pathways directly from alkynes are more easy-handling with better atom efficiency than other methods, and hence much more widely used. In most cases, copper was employed either as a catalyst or additive. Since Glaser had reported the earliest example, and followed modifications made by Eglinton and Hay, this copper mediated oxidative coupling of terminal alkynes is generally called Glaser–Eglinton–Hay coupling. Besides this name reaction, other methods have offered an alternative possible synthetic route by replacing the alkynes with derivations of alkynes, and have shown certain advantages in some cases.

### The oxidative Glaser-Eglinton-Hay coupling

Symmetrical dignes are the earliest dignes prepared in laboratories. The first report was published in 1869 by Carl Glaser.<sup>10</sup> In this Letter, phenylacetylene reacted with cuprous chloride to form a phenylacetylide, and this yellow insoluble solid could dimerize to form the 1,4-diphenylbuta-1,3-digne in the presence of oxygen smoothly (Scheme 3).

Glaser coupling of terminal alkynes could achieve the diynes with moderate yields. This could be partially due to the instability of the copper acetylide, the intermediate of the process. On the other hand, for those aromatic ethynyl compounds, good yields were observed, while for a broader scope of aliphatic alkynes, the Glaser coupling failed to give satisfactory results.

The modification of Glaser coupling was then carried out. Additives such as ammonium salts were introduced and in some cases improved the efficiency.<sup>11</sup> In 1956, Eglinton and Galbraith found that stoichiometric or excess Cu(OAc)<sub>2</sub> in methanolic pyridine could accelerate the dimerization of alkynes.<sup>12</sup> Later, Hay had found that pyridine served also as ligand in this process. Using this method, Hay prepared the polymer containing the diyne group<sup>13</sup> (Scheme 4).

In 1962, Hay had found that some amines could be a better ligand for this process.<sup>14</sup> TMEDA (N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine) was proved to be suitable in the dimerization of terminal alkynes. In this procedure, only a catalytic amount of CuCl was needed, and good yields of diynes were obtained. Better solubility of the Cu(I)–TMEDA complex was considered to improve the reaction rate.



Scheme 2. Methods to symmetric diynes.



Scheme 3. Glaser's dimerization of phenylacetylene.



Scheme 4. Polymerization of *m*-diethynylbenzene by Hay.

Using this Cu mediated dimerization of terminal alkynes, a variety of diynes and macrocycles<sup>15</sup> containing diyne structure were synthesized. Detailed reviews could be found in Diederich's publication<sup>10,16</sup> and Li's textbook on name reactions.<sup>17</sup> Selected examples are listed in Scheme 5.

### Modifications of Glaser-Eglinton-Hay coupling reactions

The Glaser–Eglinton–Hay coupling has represented the classic pathways to symmetric diynes in a long time. However, the modification of this process has not been static. In this new century, many synthetic scientists have contributed to this reaction. New catalytic system, oxidants, as well as new solvents were introduced.

The introduction of other metal catalysts could improve the efficiency in some cases. The commonly used co-catalysts were Palladium, Gold, and Nickel. Besides the catalytic systems, oxidants could also vary from oxygen in the air to other organic/inorganic reagents. Stefani et al. have reviewed the homocoupling of alkynes in 2010,<sup>18</sup> and Table 1 here shows some selected catalytic systems apart from that.<sup>19</sup>

It is noteworthy that one of the applications of alkyne oxidative coupling reactions is the synthesis of polymers bearing the diyne group. This represented a new research field and the polymers could found potential usages in material science research. Readers could refer to Tang's review  $^{20}\ {\rm and}\ {\rm find}\ {\rm more}\ {\rm typical}\ {\rm examples}\ {\rm therein}.$ 

### Oxidative coupling from alkyne derivatives

It is generally supposed that in Cu mediated systems, the copper(I) acetylides are active intermediates.<sup>10,17,21</sup> The copper acetylides, as well as other metallic acetylides, could be recognized as the alkyne derivatives, and they have also been used in the synthesis of diynes.

Mori and co-workers had reported that alkynylsilanes could undergo dimerization in the presence of CuCl in DMF smoothly.<sup>22</sup> Zhang and co-workers used the alkynyltin but only observed low yield.<sup>19a</sup> Kukukawa and co-workers had developed this method using organic oxidants.<sup>23</sup> However, the highly toxic tin had limited their applications. Oh et al. found that alkynyltriisopropoxyborates could undergo homocoupling, though only moderate yields were observed.<sup>24</sup> Another alkynyl borate example was reported later by Paixão and Stefani, in which alkynyltrifluoroborates were employed.<sup>25</sup> Later, Stefani had proved that alkynyltellurides could also be dimerized to diynes.<sup>26</sup> Cahiez et al. reported some Manganese or Iron catalyzed examples from alkynyl Grignard Reagents.<sup>27</sup> The protocol had proved to be efficient to both aromatic and aliphatic alkynes, and good functional group tolerance was also observed.

Although all these alkynyl reagents are generated from the corresponding terminal alkynes, the utility of them could in some cases show better stability under oxidative atmosphere. Table 2 has listed the differences of these processes. Comparison of yields for phenylacetylene and aliphatic alkynes is listed in the table.

Another oxidative system to yield the symmetric diynes could be the oxidation of dialkynyldialkylborates.<sup>28</sup> It is noteworthy that unsymmetric diynes could also be formed in satisfactory yields when the two alkynyl substituents were different.<sup>29</sup>



Scheme 5. Typical products from the Glaser-Egliton-Hay coupling.

### Table 1

Different catalytic systems in the oxidative coupling of terminal alkynes

Year	Authors	Catalytic systems	Comments	Ref. no.
2002 2006 2006	Zhang and co-workers Xi and co-workers Shi	PdCl <sub>2</sub> (PPh <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> , Cul, BrCH <sub>2</sub> COOEt as oxidant 3.5 mol % Pd(PPh <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>4</sub> , 0.5 mol % Cul, <i>p</i> -chloranil as oxidant. 0.5 mol % NHC-Pd(II), 3.0 mol % Cul, BnNHC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>4</sub> OH, O <sub>2</sub> $\qquad \qquad $	Palladium enolate as the intermediate, and double transmetallation was proposed For aromatic 1-alkynes only Aromatic alkynes showed obvious higher yields than aliphatic alkynes	19a 19b 19c
2007	Wu	$ \begin{array}{c}                                     $	Aromatic alkynes showed obvious higher yields than aliphatic alkynes	19d
2008 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2010 2011 2013	Mizuno Beifuss Tsai Lee, Oberhauser Pale, Sommer Radivoy Chen Jia Sonoda	Monomeric dicopper-substituted silicotungstate 2 mol % CuCl, 1.5 mol % ligand, base, O <sub>2</sub> 0.0001-1 mol % cationic 2,2'-bipyridyl palladium(II)/CuI system and 1 mol % CuI NHC-Pd catalyst 10-30 mol % copper-zeolite Copper nanoparticles 3 mol % CuCl <sub>2</sub> , Et <sub>3</sub> N, air 5 mol % CuCl <sub>2</sub> , in DMSO, 90 °C 2 mol % PdCl <sub>2</sub> (PPh <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> , ligand	Broad substrate scope, catalyst could be recycled Influence of bases and ligands were investigated Reusable catalyst, low Pd loading, water as solvent Much better performance was obtained by aromatic alkynes Morphology of the zeolite would affect the yields Neither Palladium nor ligand was needed Solvent free Base-, ligand-, Pd-free, electron-rich aromatic alkynes perform better Moderate to good yields were obtained. <i>Trans-s</i> panning ligands were proved to be effective	19e 19f 19g 19h 19j 19k 19l 19m

Table 2	
Oxidative homo-coupling of alkyne derivatives to form	divnes

Year	Authors	Alkyne derivatives	Reaction conditions	Yields	(%) for	Ref.
				Ph —===	₩ <sub>M</sub>	
				Phenylacetylene	Aliphatic alkyne	
2000	Mori and co-workers	RSiMe <sub>3</sub>	Stoichiometric CuCl, DMF, 60 °C, 3–12 h	>99	80	22
2002	Zhang and co-workers	RSnBu <sub>3</sub>	5 mol % PdCl <sub>2</sub> (PPh <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> , PhCHBrCOOMe, THF, 3 days	20	_	19a
2004	Oh et al.	$\begin{bmatrix} R - B(O/Pr)_3 \end{bmatrix}^{-} Li^{+}$	5 mol % Pd(OAc)_2/DPEPhos, 10 mol % CuI, THF, 60 $^\circ\text{C}$	93	87	24
2007	Cahiez et al.	RMgCI	5 mol % MnCl <sub>2</sub> ·2LiCl, dry air, THF, rt, 45 min	89	91	27
2008	Paixão, Stefani et al.	R-BF <sub>3</sub> k	10 mol % Cu(OAc) <sub>2</sub> , DMSO, 60 °C, 6 h	97	86-88	25
2009	Stefani et al.	RTe <i>n</i> Bu	8 mol % PdCl <sub>2</sub> , AgOAc, MeOH, Ultrasonic	85	75–87	26



Scheme 6. Diynes from haloalkynes.

### Reductive coupling to form symmetric diynes

Besides oxidative coupling, diynes could also be prepared by reductive coupling reactions from the alkynyl halides. However, few reports were published using this protocol. Lee and co-workers



Scheme 8. Side reactions of the Cadiot-Chodkiewicz reactions.

have reported the diyne synthesis from reductive coupling of 1-iodoalkynes using palladium catalysts.<sup>30</sup> Jiang et al. have prepared a variety of symmetric diynes from the bromoalkynes or iodoalkynes under the reduction of potassium iodide,<sup>31</sup> as shown in Scheme 6. The procedure was free from transition metals or bases, and moderate to high yields were achieved. The authors had also investigated the cross-coupling between two different haloalkynes, and statistical distributions of mixed diynes were obtained as was expected.

### Synthesis of unsymmetric diynes

Unsymmetric diynes are more important and more challenging in synthesis other than symmetric diynes. Typically, there are several pathways to form this structure. Simply by mixing two different terminal alkynes together in an oxidative atmosphere a mixture of diynes could be obtained. However, the yields of different products are mainly based on statistical distribution. Lack of chemoselectivity had inhibited the application of this method. One alternative method is the iodine oxidized dialkynyldialkylborates with different alkynyl substituents.<sup>29</sup>

The most efficient and widely used method till now is the Cadiot–Chodkiewicz coupling reaction<sup>32</sup> and its modifications, which requires a 1-haloalkyne as the electrophile and another terminal alkyne as the nucleophile. Another pathway to unsymmetric



Scheme 7. Different pathways to form the unsymmetric diynes.

diynes is the Fritsch–Buttenberg–Wiechell (FBW) rearrangement,<sup>33</sup> and these methods are usually used to prepare the long whole *Csp*-carbon chains. Elimination from halo-enynes could also generate the diynes.<sup>34</sup> Other methods include the oxidation of dialkynyldialkylborates<sup>29</sup> mentioned in section 2.1.3, decarbonylation of diynones,<sup>35</sup> and metathesis of symmetric diynes.<sup>36</sup> Scheme 7 has listed these different pathways.

### Cadiot-Chodkiewicz coupling and modifications

Since Cadiot and Chodkiewicz's first report on the copper catalyzed cross coupling of 1-haloalkynes and terminal alkynes in the 1950s, this procedure had been the major synthetic route to the unsymmetric diynes over the past half-century. The advantages of these coupling reactions include the relatively high yields, low cost of catalyst, wide substrate scope, and mild conditions. There are so many reports focusing on the total synthesis of naturally occurring diynes that have used the Cadiot–Chodkiewicz coupling as the key step.<sup>37</sup> However, though powerful in many cases, there are also some disadvantages. They often suffer from relatively poor selectivity and yield a considerable amount of homocoupling byproducts, especially for those bulky alkynes, or the case that when the electronic properties of the substituents attached to the haloalkynes and the terminal alkynes are similar (Scheme 8).

Kurth and Schore co-workers had utilized the polymer supported haloalkynes in the Cadiot–Chodkiewicz couplings to prevent the homocoupling of the haloalkynes.<sup>38</sup> Though lower yields were observed, the side products were effectively inhibited (Scheme 9).

Another improvement was made by Jiang,<sup>39</sup> who has used the supercritical  $CO_2$  as the reaction medium and NaOAc as the base instead of the organic amine. Moderate to high yields were

obtained, and the hydroxyl group in haloalkynes was found to be crucial in this protocol. In a recent report Wang<sup>40</sup> et al. have used Cul and tris(*o*-tolyl)phosphine and yielded the unsymmetric diynes in good yields.

To further improve the efficiency of the Cadiot–Chodkiewicz coupling, Palladium catalysts were employed together with Cu(I) salts. Potts, Wityak, and Alami et al. have reported the Palladium catalyst in the coupling of haloalkynes and terminal alkynes respectively.<sup>41</sup> The mechanism of the palladium–copper catalyzed cross coupling reaction of haloalkynes and terminal alkynes was investigated by our team,<sup>42</sup> and the proposed pathways in this process are shown in Scheme 10. A phosphine–olefin ligand was proved to accelerate the path A by in situ IR spectra. In a recent report also from our team,<sup>43</sup> the loading of the Palladium and copper could be less than 0.01 mol % and 0.2 mol %. The TON of this system could be up to 350,000. Palladium nanoparticles were proposed to be the catalytic center by kinetic studies.

### Fritsch-Buttenberg-Wiechell (FBW) rearrangement

Fritsch–Buttenberg–Wiechell (FBW) rearrangement reactions are named after Paul Ernst Moritz Fritsch, Wilhelm Paul Buttenberg, and Heinrich G. Wiechell. This type of reactions could generate alkynes from 1,1-dihaloolefins under low temperatures, as shown in Scheme 11. In the case that either R<sup>1</sup> or R<sup>2</sup> was the alkynyl group, the product could be unsymmetric diyne.<sup>44</sup> Triynes or even longer polyyne chains could be obtained through this transformation when both R<sup>1</sup> and R<sup>2</sup> were alkynyl groups.

Due to the low temperature in FBW process, this method is widely applied in the synthesis of polyynes with bulky groups, which may be unstable in higher temperatures. Tykwinski and co-worker have done a great work in this field and prepared a

$R \longrightarrow X + \longrightarrow R \longrightarrow Hex + R \longrightarrow R$			
	cross-cou	pled product homo	ocoupling product
entr	y Alkyne ( = 2% crosslinked polystyrene backbone)	cross-coupled product (%)	homocoupling product (%)
1	Br — — CH <sub>2</sub> OH	97	trace
2	O-C-Br	69	0
3	Br — — CH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> OH	93	trace
4	O C → C → Br	81	0
5	CI-CH2CH2OH	95	trace
6		84	0
7	Br — CH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> OH	66	34
8	O C Br	71	0
9	$Br - CH_2CH_2CH_2CH_2OH$	37	15
10	O - Br	34	0
11	CI-CH2CH2CH2CH2OH	40	18
12		36	trace

Scheme 9. Polymer based haloalkynes in Cadiot-Chodkiewicz coupling.



Scheme 10. Proposed pathways in palladium mediated Cadiot-Chodkiewicz coupling.

plenty of symmetric or unsymmetric diynes and polyynes through this rearrangement. For a detailed review, readers could refer to a publication in 2010 and references therein.<sup>45</sup> However, since strong bases such as butyllithium were used, the tolerance of functional group is usually poor for this method. In most cases, the substitute groups at the end of the diynes or polyymes were silyl, phenyl, aryl, or alkyl groups without active H atom. Moreover, the relatively long synthetic steps would be another problem. These disadvantages had limited the application of FBW rearrangement in a wider application range.

## Unsymmetric diynes directly from two different terminal alkynes

Although Cadiot-Chodkiewicz reactions have achieved great success, the unstable 1-haloalkynes had limited the application scope of this reaction. Cross coupling directly from two different terminal alkynes could be the most efficient pathways to form the unsymmetric diynes. However, the lack of selectivity often leads to a mixture of the possible diyne products under the classic Glaser-Eglinton-Hay conditions by simply mixing two different alkynes. Although complex products were obtained, this method could be potentially useful if the mixtures were easy to be isolated, or one of the starting alkynes was in large excess. There are also some achievements recently that could solve the problem in some cases. Lei and co-workers have reported a nickel catalyzed oxidative coupling reaction between two different terminal alkynes.<sup>46</sup> In this process, oxygen was employed as the sole oxidant, and 20 mol % of TMEDA was used as the ligand. Although 5 times excess of one alkyne was required, this process has represented a potential pathway to unsymmetric diynes. Several reports emerged



Scheme 11. FBW rearrangement.

since then, but the requirement of excess of one alkyne had still limited the application scope.

### Other methods to unsymmetric diynes

Negishi et al. had developed a tandem protocol by combining Palladium catalyzed coupling of terminal alkynes and 1,2dihaloalkenes with subsequent base-induced elimination to afford the conjugated unsymmetric diynes,<sup>34,47</sup> shown in Scheme 12. This method could reach high yields under mild conditions. Eneynes, also widely existing in nature, were also achieved conveniently. Like the FBW protocol, this method also suffered from the long synthetic steps and the limited functional group tolerance.

C—C bond cleavage could be utilized to construct unsymmetric diynes. Dong et al. have reported the Rh(I)-catalyzed decarbonylation of diynones to form the unsymmetric diynes via C—C activation, shown in Scheme 13.

Another example was the alkyne cross-metathesis, which represented a new route to unsymmetric diynes. Tamm and co-workers have reported a tungsten benzylidyne complex catalyzed metathetic conversion between diynes to give the unsymmetric diynes recently.<sup>36</sup> This method could start from the readily available symmetric diynes under room temperature. Scheme 14 has shown the transformation and the structure of the tungsten benzylidyne complex. High selectivity was achieved with 4 equivalent excess of one diyne. The authors have proved that the reaction time was also crucial to the yield of the product. Degradation of the product could be observed for prolonged period.

Although excess of one initial diyne was necessary to achieve the selectivity, and column chromatography was required to isolate the unsymmetric product from the diyne mixture, this method had shown another possibility in the synthesis of the unsymmetric diynes.

### Heterocycles from diynes

The derivation of the diynes could be dated to 1882, by Baeyer who oxidized the diyne to indigo,<sup>10</sup> shown in Scheme 15. Indigo

$$R^{1} = + \swarrow^{X} \longrightarrow R^{1} = \checkmark^{X} \xrightarrow{1. \text{ Bulli or LDA}} R^{1} = -R^{2}$$

Scheme 12. Negishi's protocol to unsymmetric diynes based on elimination.



Scheme 13. Diyne synthesis from decarbonylation of diynones.



Scheme 14. Diyne cross-metathesis to prepare unsymmetric diynes.



Scheme 15. Indigo from diyne by Baeyer.



Scheme 16. Heterocycles prepared from diynes.

has been used as a blue pigment, and was extracted from plants historically. It is the blue of blue jeans, and the structure could be recognized as the two heterocycles connected by a double bond.

Heterocycles are important in organic chemistry and bioorganic chemistry. Although traditional methods to heterocycles were mainly condensation reactions, the methodology of cycloadditions from alkynes had also been developing rapidly. Recently, synthetic chemists have found new pathways to generate heterocycles from diynes directly with high atom efficiency. Synthesis of fivemembered heterocycles, such as thiophenes, pyrroles, and furans, was reported from the diyne structure, shown in Scheme 16.

### Thiophenes and furans from diynes

Thiophenes prepared from diynes were firstly reported by Reisch and Schulte in 1960.<sup>48</sup> Later, Kagan and co-workers had used this method to prepare the  $\alpha$ -thiophene oligomers in 1982.<sup>49</sup> By this novel method, Kagan had prepared a series of thiophene oligomers in moderate to high yields.<sup>9b</sup> Potts et al. have used the gaseous H<sub>2</sub>S as the sulfur source to react with 1,4-diphenylbuta-1,3-diyne in NaOH solution and obtained the 2,5-diphenylthiophene.<sup>9a</sup> In a recent report by Zhao and



Scheme 17. Proposal mechanism for the formation of furans from diynes.

co-worker,<sup>50</sup> the sodium hydrosulfide, NaHS was used and had greatly improved the yields in most cases. Substrate scope was also investigated and satisfactory results were obtained for those aryl substituted diynes. Furans from diynes were much more difficult than thiophenes. Catalysts and relatively harsh conditions were typically required. Jiang et al. have reported a Cu(I) catalyzed synthesis of thiophenes and furans from diynes using 1,10-phenanthroline as ligand.<sup>5a</sup> For the furan formation, the authors had proposed a mechanism, shown in Scheme 17.

### Pyrroles from diynes

Methods for pyrroles from the diynes could be dated to 1961, also by Reisch and Schulte.<sup>51</sup> In this early report, five pyrroles were



Scheme 18. Other heterocycles from diynes.

prepared from the diynes and primary amines in the presence of CuCl. Chalk found that according to different reaction conditions, the diynes could give either pyrroles or pyridines in the presence of CuCl.<sup>52</sup> Huerta et al. have reported the polymers with *N*-phenyl fragments from the polymers with diyne chains using this method.<sup>53</sup> Ackermann and Born have used TiCl<sub>4</sub> as the catalyst for the hydroamination of alkynes to form indoles, and while replacing the alkynes to diyne under the same reaction condition, they have obtained the corresponding pyrrole.<sup>54</sup> Gold could also show catalytic activities. Bertrand and co-workers have reported the homogeneous Au catalyst promoted hydroamination of diynes to pyrroles using ammonia under high temperatures.<sup>55</sup> Skrydstrup et al. had reported the Au(I)-catalyzed pyrroles or furan formation from diyne in 2010. A double hydroamination or hydration of the diynes was proved to be the mechanism.<sup>5b</sup>

Fomina and Huerta had studied the mechanism of the Cu catalyzed transformation from diynes to pyrroles theoretically.<sup>56</sup> In this study, the Cu-stabilized carbenes were considered as the intermediates and the formation of the first intermediate was the rate determining step. The Cu catalysts were thought to decrease the activation energy of the carbine intermediate formation, from 75.0 to 50.1 kcal/mol.

### Other heterocycles from diynes

Heterocycles rather than the basic five membered rings mentioned above could be achieved from the diynes. This may include siloles,<sup>57</sup> germoles,<sup>58</sup> pyrazoles,<sup>6</sup> and pyridines,<sup>52</sup> shown in Scheme 18. More structures as well as the mechanism were expected in this area.

### Conclusion

This Letter had covered the structure, synthetic route, and derivations of the whole-carbon 1,3-diyne structure. Due to the rigid and rod-like structures of the diyne framework, this structure has attracted more and more attention not only of those organic synthetic chemists, but also the researchers in material science, natural product isolation and characterization, herbal medicine, biochemistry, etc. Diynes could be the precursors of many heterocycles, which have provided an alternative pathway to the synthesis of heterocycles.

However, this is still a fast developing research field. Challenges in this field still remain. One of these challenges could be the synthesis of unsymmetric diynes directly from different terminal alkynes, without perceptible excess of either alkyne. Other challenges would largely lie in the application aspect. Diynes could be good precursors of more heterocycles, and the mechanism study was few. On the other hand, diynes could be a suitable and particular linkage in polymers either in the main chain or in the side chains and related reports were still limited. In a word, diynes are unique in structure, important in potential usage, widely existed in nature, and far from perfect in research.

### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 21202050 and 'the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities', Huazhong Agricultural University, No. 0900206031.

### **References and notes**

- Chauvin, R.; Lepetit, C. Theoretical Studies on Acetylenic Scaffolds, Acetylene Chemistry–Chemistry, Biology and Material Science; Wiley–VCH, 2005.
- (a) Chernick, E. T.; Tykwinski, R. R. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2013, 26, 742; (b) Tykwinski, R. R.; Chalifoux, W.; Eisler, S.; Lucotti, A.; Tommasini, M.; Fazzi, D.; Del, Z. M.; Zerbi, G. Pure Appl. Chem. 2010, 82, 891; (c) Chalifoux, W. A.; Tykwinski, R. R. Nat. Chem. 2010, 2, 967; (d) Lucotti, A.; Tommasini, M.; Fazzi, D.; Del, Z. M.; Chalifoux, W. A.; Ferguson, M. J.; Zerbi, G.; Tykwinski, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 4239.
- (a) Wang, C.; Batsanov, A. S.; West, K.; Bryce, M. R. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 3069; (b) Szafert, S.; Gladysz, J. A. Chem. Rev. 2006, 106, PR1; (c) Eisler, S.; Slepkov, A. D.; Elliott, E.; Luu, T.; McDonald, R.; Hegmann, F. A.; Tykwinski, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2666; (d) Gibtner, T.; Hampel, F.; Gisselbrecht, J.-P.; Hirsch, A. Chem.-Eur, J. 2002, 8, 408; (e) Lagow, R. J.; Kampa, J. J.; Wei, H.-C.; Battle, S. L.; Genge, J. W.; Laude, D. A.; Harper, C. J.; Bau, R.; Stevens, R. C., et al Science 1995, 267, 362.
- (a) Tisserant, J.-N.; Hany, R.; Wimmer, E.; Sanchez-Ferrer, A.; Adamcik, J.; Wicht, G.; Nuesch, F.; Rentsch, D.; Borgschulte, A.; Mezzenga, R.; Heier, J. *Macromolecules* **2014**, 47, 721; (b) Wang, J.; Shen, Y.; Kessel, S.; Fernandes, P.; Yoshida, K.; Yagai, S.; Kurth, D. G.; Mohwald, H.; Nakanishi, T. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2009**, 48, 2166.
- (a) Jiang, H.; Zeng, W.; Li, Y.; Wu, W.; Huang, L.; Fu, W. J. Org. Chem. 2012, 77, 5179; (b) Kramer, S.; Madsen, J. L. H.; Rottlander, M.; Skrydstrup, T. Org. Lett. 2010, 12, 2758.
- 6. Wang, L.; Yu, X.; Feng, X.; Bao, M. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 78, 1693.
- Feng, X.; Tong, B.; Shen, J.-b.; Zhao, W.; Zhi, J.-g.; Shi, J.-b.; Dong, Y.-p. Guangpuxue Yu Guangpu Fenxi 2009, 29, 1482.
- 8. Wang, L.; Yu, X.; Feng, X.; Bao, M. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 2418.
- (a) Potts, K. T.; Nye, S. A.; Smith, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 3895; (b) Kagan, J.; Arora, S. K. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 4317.
- 10. Siemsen, P.; Livingston, R. C.; Diederich, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 2632.
- 11. Zal'kind, Y. S.; Aizikovich, M. A. Zh. Obshch. Khim. 1937, 7, 227.
- Eglinton, G.; Galbraith, A. R. Chem. Ind. 1956, 737.
   Hay, A. S. J. Org. Chem. 1960, 25, 1275.
- 14. Hay, A. S. J. Org. Chem. **1960**, 23, 1273.
- (a) Eglinton, G.; Galbraith, A. R. J. Chem. Soc. 1959, 889; (b) Sondheimer, F.; Amiel, Y.; Wolovsky, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 4247.
- Acetylene Chemistry: Chemistry, Biology and Material Science; Diederich, F., Stang, P. J., Tykwinski, R. R., Eds.; Wiley-VCH, 2005.
- 17. Li, J. J. Name Reactions: A Collection of Detailed Mechanism and Synthetic Applications, 4th ed.; Springer-Verlag, 2009.
- 18. Stefani, H. A.; Guarezemini, A. S.; Cella, R. Tetrahedron 2010, 66, 7871.
- 19. (a) Lei, A.; Srivastava, M.; Zhang, X. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 1969, 67; (b) Chen, C.; Ai, Z.; Lin, J.; Hong, X.; Xi, C. Synlett 2006, 2454; (c) Shi, M.; Qian, H.-X. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 2006, 20, 771; (d) Yang, F.; Cui, X.; Li, Y.-N.; Zhang, J.; Ren, G.-R.; Wu, Y. Tetrahedron 2007, 1963, 63; (e) Kamata, K.; Yamaguchi, S.; Kotani, M.; Yamaguchi, K.; Mizuno, N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 2407; (f) Adimurthy, S.; Malakar, C. C.; Beifuss, U. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 5648; (g) Chen, S.-N.; Wu, W.-Y.; Tsai, F.-Y. Green Chem. 2009, 11, 269; (h) Hsiao, T.-H.; Wu, T.-L.; Chatterjee, S.; Chiu, C.-Y.; Lee, H.-M.; Bettucci, L.; Bianchini, C.; Oberhauser, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 2009, 694, 4014; (i) Kuhn, P.; Alix, A.; Kumarraja, M.; Louis, B.; Pale, P.; Sommer, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 423; (j) Nador, F.; Fortunato, L.; Moglie, Y.; Vitale, C.; Radivoy, G. Synthesis 2009, 4027; (k) Wang, D.; Li, J.; Li, N.; Gao, T.; Hou, S.; Chen, B. Green Chem. 2010, 12, 45; (I) Yin, K.; Li, C.; Li, J.; Jia, X. Green Chem. 2011, 13, 591; (m) Atobe, S.; Sonoda, M.; Suzuki, Y.; Yamamoto, T.; Masuno, H.; Shinohara, H.; Ogawa, A. Res. Chem. Intermed. 2013, 39.359.
- 20. Liu, J.; Lam, J. W. Y.; Tang, B. Z. Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 5799.
- Mizuno, N.; Kamata, K.; Nakagawa, Y.; Oishi, T.; Yamaguchi, K. Catal. Today 2010, 157, 359.
- Nishihara, Y.; Ikegashira, K.; Hirabayashi, K.; Ando, J.-I.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1780.
- Kukukawa, K.; Kariya, M.; Shin-Ya, Y. Kinki Daigaku Sangyo Rikogakubu Kenkyu Hokoku 2009, 10, 1.
- 24. Oh, C. H.; Reddy, V. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 5221.
- Paixao, M. W.; Weber, M.; Braga, A. L.; de, A. J. B.; Deobald, A. M.; Stefani, H. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 49, 2366.
- Singh, F. V.; Amaral, M. F. Z. J.; Stefani, H. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2009, *50*, 2636.
   Cahiez, G.; Moyeux, A.; Buendia, J.; Duplais, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, *129*, 13788.
- 28. Pelter, A.; Smith, K.; Tabata, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1975, 857.

- 29. Sinclair, J. A.; Brown, H. C. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41, 1078.
- 30. Damle, S. V.; Seomoon, D.; Lee, P. H. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 7085.
- 31. Chen, Z.; Jiang, H.; Wang, A.; Yang, S. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 75, 6700.
- Cadiot, P.; Chodkiewicz, W. In *Chemistry of Acetylenes*; Viehe, H. G., Ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1969; pp 597–647.
- 33. Luu, T.; Morisaki, Y.; Cunningham, N.; Tykwinski, R. R. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 9622.
- 34. Negishi, E.; Okukado, N.; Lovich, S. F.; Luo, F. T. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 2629.
- 35. Dermenci, A.; Whittaker, R. E.; Dong, G. Org. Lett. 2013, 15, 2242.
- Li, S. T.; Schnabel, T.; Lysenko, S.; Brandhorst, K.; Tamm, M. Chem. Commun. 2013, 7189.
- 37. Shun, A. L. K. S.; Tykwinski, R. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 1034.
- Montierth, J. M.; DeMario, D. R.; Kurth, M. J.; Schore, N. E. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 11741.
- 39. Jiang, H.-F.; Wang, A. Z. Synthesis 2007, 1649.
- 40. Wang, S.; Yu, L.; Li, P.; Meng, L.; Wang, L. Synthesis 2011, 1541.
- 41. (a) Nye, S. A.; Potts, K. T. Synthesis 1988, 375; (b) Wityak, J.; Chan, J. B. Synth.
- Commun. 1991, 21, 977; (c) Alami, M.; Ferri, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 2763.
- Shi, W.; Luo, Y. D.; Luo, X. C.; Chao, L.; Zhang, H.; Wang, J.; Lei, A. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 14713.

- 43. Weng, Y.; Cheng, B.; He, C.; Lei, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 9547.
- 44. Mouries, V.; Waschbuesch, R.; Carran, J.; Savignac, P. Synthesis 1998, 271.
- 45. Jahnke, E.; Tykwinski, R. R. Chem. Commun. 2010, 3235.
- 46. Yin, W.; He, C.; Chen, M.; Zhang, H.; Lei, A. Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 709.
- 47. (a) Negishi, E.-I.; Qian, M.; Zeng, F.; Anastasia, L.; Babinski, D. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1597; (b) Qian, M.; Negishi, E. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2003, 7, 412; (c) Negishi, E.-I.; Hata, M.; Xu, C. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3687.
- 48. Schulte, K. E.; Reisch, J.; Horner, L. Angew. Chem. 1960, 72, 920.
- 49. Beny, J. P.; Dhawan, S. N.; Kagan, J.; Sundlass, S. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 2201.
- 50. Tang, J.; Zhao, X. RSC Adv. 2012, 2, 5488.
- 51. Reisch, J.; Schulte, K. E. Angew. Chem. 1961, 73, 241.
- 52. Chalk, A. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972, 13, 3487.
- 53. Huerta, G.; Fomina, L.; Rumsh, L.; Zolotukhin, M. G. Polym. Bull. 2006, 57, 433.
- 54. Ackermann, L.; Born, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, 45, 9541.
- 55. Lavallo, V.; Frey, G. D.; Donnadieu, B.; Soleilhavoup, M.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2008**, 47, 5224.
- 56. Huerta, G.; Fomina, L. J. Mol. Struct.: THEOCHEM 2006, 761, 107.
- 57. Matsuda, T.; Kadowaki, S.; Murakami, M. Chem. Commun. 2007, 2627.
- 58. Matsuda, T.; Kadowaki, S.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Murakami, M. Org. Lett. 2010, 12, 1056.